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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF MUSKEGON 

 
JUSTIN HOWE,    
  
 Plaintiff,      Case No.                  CD  
 
v        Hon. 
 
MERCY HEALTH PARTNERS 
HACKLEY HOSPITAL, 
 
 Defendant 
______________________________________/ 

NICKELHOFF & WIDICK, PLLC 
Andrew Nickelhoff (P37990 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
333 W. Fort Street, Suite 1400 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
 (313) 496-9429 
anickelhoff@michlabor.legal 
 
Andrew. Smith (P75692) 
General Counsel, Michigan Nurses Association 
2310 Jolly Oak Rd 
Okemos, Michigan 48864-4599 
(517) 853-5515 
andrew.smith@minurses.org   
_____________________________________/  

There is no other civil  action between these parties  arising out of the same transaction  
or occurrence as alleged in this complaint pending in this court, nor has any such action 
been previously filed and dismissed or transferred after having been assigned to a 
judge, nor do I know of any other civil action, now between these parties, arising out of 
the same transaction or occurrence as alleged in this complaint that is either pending or 
was previously filed and dismissed, transferred, or otherwise disposed of after having 
been assigned to a judge in this court. 

 
s/Andrew Nickelhoff 
Attorney for Plaintiff 

 
COMPLAINT AND JURY DEMAND 

NOW COMES Plaintiff Justin Howe, by his undersigned attorneys, and 

complains against Defendant Mercy Health Partners Hackley Hospital, as 

follows:

mailto:anickelhoff@michlabor.legal
mailto:andrew.smith@minurses.org
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PARTIES, JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

1. Plaintiff Justin Howe is an individual residing in Blue Lake Township, 

Muskegon County, Michigan. Plaintiff Howe was employed by Defendant 

Mercy Health Partners Hackley Hospital as a Registered Nurse. 

2. Defendant Mercy Health Partners Hackley Hospital (“the Hospital”) is a 

Michigan non-profit corporation that operates hospitals and medical facilities 

in western Michigan, including its medical facility located in the City of 

Muskegon, Muskegon County, Michigan.  

3. This court has jurisdiction. The amount in controversy exceeds 

$25,000.00, exclusive of interest, costs, and attorney fees. 

4. Venue properly lies in this Circuit pursuant to MCL 600.1621 and 600.1627. 

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS  

5. Plaintiff Howe began his employment with the Hospital in October, 2010. 

Since August, 2013, and until his discharge by the Hospital on April 3, 2020, 

he was employed by the Hospital as a full-time Registered Nurse . At the time 

of his discharge Plaintiff Howe worked in the neurotrauma intensive care 

unit. 

6. The Registered Nurses at the Hospital have established a local organization 

called the Staff Council, which represents and advocates for the Nurses. The 

Staff Council is constituted under the Bylaws of the Michigan Nurses 

Association, a statewide labor organization representing Registered Nurses 

across Michigan. Plaintiff Howe has been an active and vocal member of the 
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Staff Council, and since August, 2017 he has served as the Staff Council’s 

President.  

7. Until November 30, 2018, Howe and other Registered Nurses at the Hospital 

were covered under a collective bargaining agreement between the Michigan 

Nurses Association and the Hospital. At all relevant times there has been no 

collective bargaining agreement covering the Hospital’s Nurses in effect.  

8. As is the case for front-line medical caregivers throughout Michigan and the 

nation, since the emergence of the coronavirus pandemic in March, 2020, the 

Hospital’s Registered Nurses have faced unprecedented challenges and 

dangers on a daily basis. The Staff Council has been the primary advocate for 

the Nurses, giving voice to their concerns and needs in the areas of personal 

protective equipment (“PPE”), safe staffing levels, exposure to potentially 

contagious patients and visitors, and adequate care for and attention to 

infected patients. Plaintiff Howe has been a key point-person and spokesman 

for the Staff Council and his fellow Nurses. 

9. Since mid-March and continuing thereafter, Howe communicated frequently 

with Hospital officials, in writing, by email, and orally,  regarding the lack of 

adequate PPE provided to Nurses, lax enforcement of visitor restrictions, 

inadequate nurse to patient ratios, potentially dangerous practices and 

procedures, and other challenges the Nurses were facing on a daily basis. The 

Hospital responded to only a few of Howe’s communications.  
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10. On March 15, 2020, Howe, along with several other Nurses, signed a letter to 

the Hospital’s President, to “ask for your intercession in the current decisions 

being made at Hackley Hospital concerning staff PPE, visitor policies, and 

other concerns that put the healthcare team and patients in elevated risk of 

exposure to COVID 19.” A response addressed to Howe sent the following day 

stated that the Hospital was in compliance with safety the safety standards 

recommended by the Centers for Disease Control. Howe continued thereafter 

to communicate with Hospital management regarding the Nurses’ concerns 

regarding patient care and their own safety.  

11. On March 16, 2020, Howe along with other Nurses filed an “Assignment 

Despite Objection (ADO) Form” (an internal form used for Nurse complaints 

regarding working conditions), to inform Hospital management that ICU 

Nurses were dealing with inadequate nurse to patient ratios, insufficient 

support staff, shortages of supplies, and other conditions impeding patient 

care and safety.  

12. Plaintiff Howe took a leading role in informing the community about 

conditions of concern to Nurses. Howe was interviewed and prominently 

featured in television, radio and newspaper reporting after the Hospital 

ordered Nurses to remove N95 masks that they had obtained on their own or 

through donations and then implemented a policy prohibiting their use by the 

Nurses. 
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13. Howe also took the lead in complaining to Michigan’s government regarding 

the workplace hazards faced by the Nurses. On March 23, 2020, at Plaintiff 

Howe’s urging and on his behalf, the Michigan Nurses Association filed a 

complaint against the Hospital with the Michigan Occupational Safety 

Administration (“MIOSHA”). The Complaint stated that the Hospital violated 

the Michigan Occupational Safety and Health Act, MCL 408.1001 et seq, 

including but not limited to the “general duty” clause, MCL 408.1011, by 

ordering emergency room Nurses who would come into contact with 

potentially infected patients to remove their N95 masks and use less 

protective masks instead, and by issuing a policy prohibiting Nurses from 

using PPE more protective than what the Hospital had been providing.  

14. On April 3, 2020, MIOSHA issued a letter advising that it was taking no 

action on the complaint. Just before his work shift on that same day, Howe 

was summoned to a meeting with Hospital management, where he was 

informed that he was being discharged.  

15. The stated reason for the termination was that Howe had “accessed patient 

records without a business need to do so,” allegedly in violation of the “HIPAA 

policy.” The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”), 

is a federal law that, among other things, protects the confidentiality of 

patients’ medical records. This was the first time in his employment with the 

Hospital that Plaintiff Howe received any discipline or corrective action. 
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16. The Hospital’s accusation against Howe was pretextual. Staff Nurses 

routinely review the records of patients under their care of other patients in 

their units who are not under their care at the time, so that they can fill in for 

Nurses who are on break or unavailable or assist with patients on short 

notice, and to understand the overall patient load. Nurses also regularly 

review records of patients elsewhere in the system to get a sense of who may 

be assigned or transferred to their unit so that they can be prepared for 

potential needs or issues in their unit.  

17. Under the Michigan Public Health Code, MCL 333.20170(4), Hospital 

employees “shall respect the confidentiality of patient clinical records and 

shall not divulge or disclose the contents of records in a manner that 

identifies an individual except pursuant to court order or as otherwise 

authorized by law.” Howe did not divulge patient records to anyone who was 

not authorized to see them, and the Hospital did not identify any instance of 

such disclosure.  

18. There was no basis for the Hospital’s accusation that Howe violated HIPAA. 

HIPAA provides in pertinent part:  

A person who knowingly and in violation of this part— (1) uses 
or causes to be used a unique health identifier; (2) obtains 
individually identifiable health information relating to an 
individual; or (3) discloses individually identifiable health 
information to another person, shall be punished as provided in 
subsection (b). For purposes of the previous sentence, a person 
(including an employee or other individual) shall be considered 
to have obtained or disclosed individually identifiable health 
information in violation of this part if the information is 
maintained by a covered entity (as defined in the HIPAA privacy 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=42-USC-991716523-1615532605&term_occur=999&term_src=title:42:chapter:7:subchapter:XI:part:C:section:1320d%E2%80%936
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=42-USC-1985487160-746707014&term_occur=999&term_src=title:42:chapter:7:subchapter:XI:part:C:section:1320d%E2%80%936
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=42-USC-1985487160-746707014&term_occur=999&term_src=title:42:chapter:7:subchapter:XI:part:C:section:1320d%E2%80%936
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=42-USC-1985487160-746707014&term_occur=999&term_src=title:42:chapter:7:subchapter:XI:part:C:section:1320d%E2%80%936
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=42-USC-991716523-1615532605&term_occur=999&term_src=title:42:chapter:7:subchapter:XI:part:C:section:1320d%E2%80%936
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=42-USC-991716523-1615532605&term_occur=999&term_src=title:42:chapter:7:subchapter:XI:part:C:section:1320d%E2%80%936
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=42-USC-1985487160-746707014&term_occur=999&term_src=title:42:chapter:7:subchapter:XI:part:C:section:1320d%E2%80%936
https://www.law.cornell.edu/definitions/uscode.php?width=840&height=800&iframe=true&def_id=42-USC-1985487160-746707014&term_occur=999&term_src=title:42:chapter:7:subchapter:XI:part:C:section:1320d%E2%80%936


7 
 

regulation described in section 1320d–9(b)(3) of this title) and 
the individual obtained or disclosed such information without 
authorization.  [42 U.S.C. 1320d–6(a)(3)]  

  
 There was no evidence provided to suggest that Howe obtained any patient 

records improperly. As stated above, Howe, like other Nurses, regularly 

looked at the clinical records as part of his regular professional duties.  

19. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) has relaxed the 

restriction on obtaining and disclosing patient health information in response 

to the coronavirus emergency. A February, 2020 Bulletin “HIPAA Privacy 

and Novel Coronavirus” issued by  the HHS Office of Civil Rights states in 

part: 

Health care providers may share patient information with 
anyone as necessary to prevent or lessen a serious and imminent 
threat to the health and safety of a person or the public – 
consistent with applicable law (such as state statutes, 
regulations, or case law) and the provider’s standards of ethical 
conduct. See 45 CFR 164.512(j). Thus, providers may disclose a 
patient’s health information to anyone who is in a position to 
prevent or lesson the serious and imminent threat, including 
family, friends, caregivers, and law enforcement without a 
patient’s permission. HIPAA expressly defers to the professional 
judgment of health professionals in making determinations about 
the nature and severity of the threat to health and safety. See 45 
CFR 164.512(j).  
 

   [https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/february-2020-hipaa-
and-novel-coronavirus.pdf] 

 
20. As a direct and proximate result of the Hospital’s unlawful termination of his 

employment, Plaintiff Howe has suffered: the loss of past and future wages, 

benefits, and other compensation; the loss of seniority and future promotional 

https://www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/42/1320d%E2%80%939#b_3
https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/february-2020-hipaa-and-novel-coronavirus.pdf
https://www.hhs.gov/sites/default/files/february-2020-hipaa-and-novel-coronavirus.pdf
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opportunities and increased earning capacity; embarrassment, humiliation, 

and mental distress; and other damages that may be revealed in discovery. 

COUNT I  
 

VIOLATION OF MICHIGAN WHISTLEBLOWER 
PROTECTION ACT 

 
21. Plaintiff incorporates the above paragraphs as if repeated herein. 

22. The Michigan Whistleblowers’ Protection Act (“WPA”), MCL 15.362, provides: 

An employer shall not discharge, threaten, or otherwise 
discriminate against an employee regarding the employee's 
compensation, terms, conditions, location, or privileges of 
employment because the employee, or a person acting on behalf 
of the employee, reports or is about to report, verbally, or in 
writing, a violation or a suspected violation of a law or 
regulation or rule promulgated pursuant to laws of this state, a 
political subdivision of this state, or the United States to a 
public body, unless the employee knows that the report is false, 
or because an employee is requested by a public body to 
participate in an investigation, hearing, or inquiry held by the 
public body, or a court action. 

 
23. The Hospital is an "employer" for purposes of the WPA. MCL 15.361(b). 

Plaintiff Howe is an “employee” entitled to rights under the WPA. MCL 15. 

361(a).   

24. MIOSHA is a “public body” as defined in the WPA.  MCL 15.361(d). 

25. The Hospital violated the WPA by terminating Howe’s employment because 

he caused a complaint to be filed with MIOSHA alleging a violation of the 

Michigan Occupational Safety and Health Act. The reason given for the 

termination, ostensibly that Howe committed a violation of HIPPA, was 

pretextual and without any factual or legal support. The Hospital unlawfully 
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discharged Howe in retaliation for his engagement in activity protected under 

MCL 15.362, which included the filing of a complaint with MIOSHA.   

COUNT II 
 

VIOLATION OF MICHIGAN PUBLIC HEALTH CODE 
 

26. Plaintiff incorporates the above paragraphs as if repeated herein. 

27. The Michigan Public Health Code, MCL 333.1101 et seq, provides in Section 

20176a(1), MCL 333.20176a(1): 

 A health facility or agency shall not discharge or discipline, 
threaten to discharge or discipline, or otherwise discriminate 
against an employee regarding the employee's compensation, 
terms, conditions, location, or privileges of employment because 
the employee or an individual acting on behalf of the employee 
does either or both of the following: (a) In good faith reports or 
intends to report, verbally or in writing, the malpractice of a 
health professional or a violation of this article, article 7, article 
8, or article 15 or a rule promulgated under this article, article 7, 
article 8, or article 15. 

 
28. Plaintiff Howe was entitled under Section 20176a(1) to protection from the 

Hospital’s retaliation for his advocacy for his fellow Nurses to improve the 

level of safety and patient care, including by reporting and complaining about 

the following Public Health Code violations, among others: 

(a) Violation of Section 21521, MCL 333.21521, which provides: “A 

hospital shall meet the minimum standards and rules authorized by this 

article and shall endeavor to carry out practices that will further protect the 

public health and safety, prevent the spread of disease, alleviate pain and 

disability, and prevent premature death.” Plaintiff Howe filed an ADO 

complaining ICU Nurses were dealing with inadequate nurse to patient 
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ratios, insufficient support staff, shortages of supplies, and other conditions 

impeding patient care and safety, situations that thwarted protection of 

public safety and prevention of disease. Plaintiff Howe also repeatedly 

complained about the Hospital’s orders that Nurses treating infectious 

patients not wear the most effective available PPE.  

(b) Violation of Section 20198(1), MCL 333.20198(1), which provides in 

pertinent part: “. . . an individual shall not enter upon the premises of a 

health facility or agency that is an inpatient facility . . . for the purpose of 

engaging in an activity that would cause a reasonable person to feel 

terrorized, frightened, intimidated, threatened, harassed, or molested and 

that actually causes a health facility or agency employee, patient, resident, or 

visitor to feel terrorized, frightened, intimidated, threatened, harassed, or 

molested.” The Hospital’s order that Nurses remove their N95 masks, its 

demand for a list of Nurses who were wearing N95 masks, and its order that 

Nurses refrain from wearing N95 masks, unnecessarily caused Nurses caring 

for patients who were or could have been infected with COVID-19 to 

experience fear and apprehension regarding their health and safety and 

possible transmission of disease to the families. As stated above, Howe 

complained repeatedly about this violation. 

29. By its actions described above, the Hospital violated Section 20176a(1) of the 

Public Health Code. 
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30. The Hospital also violated Public Health Code Section 20180, MCL 

333.20180, by discharging Plaintiff Howe. Section 20180(1) provides hospital 

employees with immunity from civil or criminal liability if, which acting in 

good faith (which is presumed), they report or assist in reporting certain 

violations or conditions. Sub-section 20180(4) provides that the following 

conditions must be met in order for an employee to be covered by the 

statutory immunity: 

 (a) The person gave the hospital 60 days' written notice of the 
issue related to the hospital that is an unsafe practice or 
condition that is not a violation of this article or a rule 
promulgated under this article. A person who provides a 
hospital written notice as provided under this subdivision shall 
not be discharged, threatened, or otherwise discriminated 
against by the hospital regarding that person's compensation or 
the terms, conditions, location, or privileges of that person's 
employment. Within 60 days after receiving a written notice of 
an issue related to the hospital that is an unsafe practice or 
condition, the hospital shall provide a written response to the 
person who provided that written notice. 
 
 (b) The person had no reasonable expectation that the hospital 
had taken or would take timely action to address the issue 
related to the hospital that is an unsafe practice or condition 
that is not a violation of this article or a rule promulgated 
under this article. 
 

31. Plaintiff Howe was entitled to protection from retaliation under Sub-section 

20180(4) because he timely reported unsafe practices and conditions to the 

Hospital on a number of occasions, by filing an ADO and through written and 

oral complaints to Hospital management. 

32. The Hospital violated Sub-section 20180(4)(a) by discharging Plaintiff Howe 

because of his complaints regarding unsafe practices and conditions. The 
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Hospital also violated that sub-section by failing, in a number of instances, to 

respond to Howe’s complaints.  

COUNT III  
 

VIOLATION OF MICHIGAN PUBLIC POLICY 
 

33. Plaintiff incorporates the above paragraphs as if repeated herein. 

34. It is unlawful and a violation of the public policy of Michigan  

for a medical facility to discharge or take other adverse action against an 

employee who objects to or complains about unlawful, unsafe or improper  

practices, or who acts in accordance with statutory rights or duties. 

35. The Hospital discharged Plaintiff Howe in response to and in retaliation for 

his activities on behalf of his fellow Nurses as described in this Complaint. 

Plaintiff Howe’s activities to protect Nurses’ safety and improve their working 

conditions in response to the coronavirus emergency were consistent with and 

in furtherance of the public interest. The discharge violated the public policy 

of Michigan. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

 Plaintiff requests that the court enter a judgment against Defendant, in 

whatever amount the court or a jury determines to be fair, just, and adequate 

compensation for the injuries and damages Plaintiff has suffered as a result of 

Defendant’s unlawful actions, together with interest, costs, and attorney fees; 

Plaintiff further requests reinstatement, back-pay, front-pay, and other equitable 
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relief the court deems appropriate. 

       
      Respectfully  submitted,  
    

     NICKELHOFF & WIDICK, PLLC 

s/ Andrew Nickelhoff    
Andrew Nickelhoff (P37990 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
333 W. Fort Street, Suite 1400 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
 (313) 496-9429 
anickelhoff@michlabor.legal 
 
/s/ Andrew Smith     
Andrew Smith (P75692) 
General Counsel, Michigan Nurses 
Association 
2310 Jolly Oak Rd 
Okemos, Michigan 48864-4599 
(517) 853-5515 
andrew.smith@minurses.org   
 

Dated: May 4, 2020

mailto:anickelhoff@michlabor.legal
mailto:andrew.smith@minurses.org
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STATE OF MICHIGAN 
IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF MUSKEGON 

 
JUSTIN HOWE,    
  
 Plaintiff,      Case No.         CD  
 
v        Hon. 
 
MERCY HEALTH PARTNERS 
HACKLEY HOSPITAL, 
 
 Defendant 
______________________________________/ 

NICKELHOFF & WIDICK, PLLC 
Andrew Nickelhoff (P37990 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
333 W. Fort Street, Suite 1400 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
 (313) 496-9429 
anickelhoff@michlabor.legal 
 
Andrew J. Smith (P75692) 
General Counsel, Michigan Nurses Association 
2310 Jolly Oak Rd 
Okemos, Michigan 48864-4599 
(517) 853-5515 
andrew.smith@minurses.org   
_____________________________________/ 

 
JURY DEMAND 

 
  Pursuant to MCR 2.508, Plaintiff Justin Howe hereby demands a trial by 

jury. 

      Respectfully  submitted,     
     NICKELHOFF & WIDICK, PLLC 

s/ Andrew Nickelhoff    
Andrew Nickelhoff (P37990 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
333 W. Fort Street, Suite 1400 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
 (313) 496-9429 
anickelhoff@michlabor.legal 

mailto:anickelhoff@michlabor.legal
mailto:andrew.smith@minurses.org
mailto:anickelhoff@michlabor.legal


2 
 

 
/s/ Andrew Smith     
Andrew Smith (P75692) 
General Counsel, Michigan Nurses 
Association 
2310 Jolly Oak Rd 
Okemos, Michigan 48864-4599 
(517) 853-5515 
andrew.smith@minurses.org   
 

Dated: May 4, 2020 
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